1953

## Western Gas, Inc. v. Serval, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Defendant and respondent hereinafter referred to as defendant, maintained a service man in the State of Utah. Said service man visited the service department of the local jobber not less than once every ninety

days. (R. 29) The service man had the sole discretion and responsibility in making determination as to whether or not defective parts were to be replaced at the defendant's cost, and said service man checked the files containing complaints, and brought with him complaints mailed by customers direct to defendant and adjusted and adjudicated all such matters and reviewed files while within the State of Utah. (R. 23, 29, 31, 38, 44, 46) Said service man went into the homes and assisted the local maintenance man in adjusting equipment and diagnosing problems in connection with malfunctioning units (R. 23), and checking on warranties and reviewing files. (R. 29) Defendant's agents exercised discretion while in Utah. (R. 46) The above practices were conducted for many years. The prior service man, Blair Hughes, attended to all service himself without the assistance of a local service man. (R. 42) Defective parts were replaced at the cost of the defendant. (R. 17½, 23, 35, 36) Adjustments were made in Utah. (R. 44)

2. Defendant entered into written contracts with each purchaser warranting equipment and maintained personal property on consignment in the state to replace defective parts and equipment. (R. 17½) Defendant consigned merchandise which run into thousands of dollars, one consignment alone being for 79 units. (R. 41) Defendant admits it was a consignment. (R. 17) See also R. 36, 40, 41, 42. Defendant maintained title with respect to the same and said property was warehoused within the state of Utah. (R. 36, 40, 41, 42)

3. Defendant installed a combination furnace and air conditioning unit costing \$1950.00. (R. 34) Equipment was shipped direct to customer. (R. 51½) Defendant sent three engineers into Utah for making the installation and attending to the connection, cutting into the house where the parts were installed and taking care of other installation problems with respect to said combination unit. (R. 34)

4. Defendant maintained schools and clinics never less than annually in the State of Utah and advertised same (R. 76), which clinics were for the following purposes:

(a) Sales and sales promotion of the products of the defendant and the introduction of new models. (R. 23, 36, 37, 40) That the defendant brought models into the state at the defendant's expense, and demonstrated, displayed and exhibited the products and distributed leaflets to as many as one hundred prospective purchasers or customers at a time (R. 23, 32), and assisted in taking orders and selling the products within the State of Utah. (R. 32, 36, 37, 42, 43, 45)

(b) For the training of local service men in the installation, servicing, and maintenance of gas burning equipment sold by the defendant. (R. 44, 45)

The gas burning equipment and the installation of the same is highly technical and requires highly skilled and trained men. The defendant maintained these training clinics in Utah (R. 44, 45.)

5. Defendant solicited business within the State of Utah and had salesman come through the State of Utah every ninety days in connection with sales and sales promotion of air conditioning and heating units (R. 32, 36), and calling on customers every three months in connection with the sales and sales promotion of refrigerators and water heaters (R. 36) and these salesmen really put the heat on the local jobbers and used sales pressure to get jobbers to purchase their said equipment and maintain sales quotas (R. 45. Defendant sold goods located in Utah to customers out of State (R. 46) and said salesmen likewise went directly to customers to assist in the direct sale of defendant's products (R. 37, 42, 43.) The defendant likewise sent its personnel into the state in connection with the solicitation of new jobbers and interviewed many prospective jobbers (R. 43.)

6. As the result of the continued sales pressure and promotion there was a continual flow of merchandise into the State of Utah exceeding a million dollars (R. 35, 46.)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. DEFENDANT CONSISTENTLY AND CONTINUOUSLY MADE ADJUSTMENTS AND SERVICED AND MAINTAINED EQUIPMENT SOLD WITHIN THE STATE OF UTAH.

2. DEFENDANT WARRANTED ALL EQUIPMENT SOLD TO EACH PURCHASER AND MAINTAINED PER-



SONAL PROPERTY ON CONSIGNMENT IN THE STATE TO REPLACE DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT.

3. DEFENDANT COMPLETELY INSTALLED A COMBINATION FURNACE AND AIR CONDITIONING UNIT WITHIN THE STATE OF UTAH.

4. DEFENDANT MAINTAINED SCHOOLS AND CLINICS ANNUALLY WITHIN THE STATE FOR THE FOLLOWING PURPOSES:

(a) SALES AND SALES PROMOTION OF PRODUCTS AND INTRODUCTION OF NEW MODELS.

(b) TRAINING LOCAL PERSONNEL FOR INSTALLATION, SERVICING AND MAINTENANCE OF DEFENDANTS PRODUCTS.

5. SOLICITATION OF BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

6. CONTINUOUS FLOW OF MERCHANDISE INTO THE STATE OF UTAH.

## ARGUMENT

1. DEFENDANT CONSISTENTLY AND CONTINUOUSLY MADE ADJUSTMENTS AND SERVICED AND MAINTAINED EQUIPMENT SOLD WITHIN THE STATE OF UTAH.

*Wabash R. Co. v. District Court*, 167 Pac. 2d 973  
109 Utah 526;

*Industrial Commission v. Kemmerer Coal Co.*, 150  
Pac. 2d 373 106 Utah 56;

*Bristol v. Brent*, 110 Pac. 357 38 Utah 58;

*Dahl v. Collette*, 279 N.W. 561. (See page 567)

This case cites many United States Supreme Court Cases.

*Case v. Mills Novelty*, 193 So. 625;

*Cone v. New Britian Machine*, 20 Fed. 2nd 593 275  
U.S. 552 72 Law Ed 421;

*Rendlemon v. Niagra Sprayer*, 16 Fed. 2nd 122.

Exercise of deseretion and adjusting claims in state held doing business.

2. DEFENDANT WARRANTED ALL EQUIPMENT SOLD TO EACH PURCHASER AND MAINTAINED PERSONAL PROPERTY ON CONSIGNMENT IN THE STATE TO REPLACE DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT.

*Liquid Veneer v. Smuckler*, 90 Fed. 2nd 196.

3. DEFENDANT COMPLETELY INSTALLED A COMBINATION FURNACE AND AIR CONDITIONING UNIT WITHIN THE STATE OF UTAH.

*Peck, Wilson, Heatery v. McKnight*, 205 S.W. 419  
140 Tenn. 563.

This case is directly in point and holds that the installation of a heating unit does constitute doing business in the state.

4. DEFENDANT MAINTAINED SCHOOLS AND CLINICS ANNUALLY WITHIN THE STATE FOR THE FOLLOWING PURPOSES:

(a) SALES AND SALES PROMOTION OF PRODUCTS AND INTRODUCTION OF NEW MODELS.

(b) TRAINING LOCAL PERSONNEL FOR INSTALLATION, SERVICING AND MAINTENANCE OF DEFENDANTS PRODUCTS.

*Williams v. Brece Juices*, 35 Fed. Sup. 847.

A demonstration in this case was held sufficient to constitute doing business.

*Leo Frene et al., Appts., Louisville Cement Company*, 134 Fed. 2nd 511.

5. SOLICITATION OF BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

*Wein v. Crockett*, 195 P. 2d 222 113 Utah 301;

*Loken et al. V. Diamond T Motor*, 12 N.W. 2d 345;

*Rendlemon v. Niagra Sprayer*, 16 Fed. 2nd 122;

*Williams v. Brece Juices*, 35 Fed. Sup. 847;

*Meade Fife Company v. Varn*, 3 Fed. 2nd 520,  
269 U.S. 564 146 ALR 926;

*Carrol Electric v. Freed-Eismen*, 50 Fed. 2nd 993;

*State ex rel. Taylor Laundry Co. v. District Court*,  
57 Pac. 2nd 772 146 ALR 953 and 959.

Supervision of dealers or jobbers constituted agency or doing business.

*Rendlemon v. Niagra Sprayer*, 16 Fed. 2nd 122;  
*William v. Brece Juices*, 35 Fed. Sup. 847.

6. CONTINUOUS FLOW OF MERCHANDISE INTO THE STATE OF UTAH.

*International Slive Company v. State*, 154 Pac. 2nd 801 101 ALR 122.

The District Judge relied heavily on the *Advance, Rumely, Thresher Co., v. Stohl*, 75 Utah 124, 283 P. 731; This case as was pointed out to the District Judge was merely bolting together a machine that was shipped in a knocked down condition. Moreover, it was apparent from the case that it was an isolated transaction and bolting together an item is not like installing a heating system, and in addition to these facts the case involved the question of whether or not the plaintiff could maintain an action having failed to comply with the laws of the state with respect to corporations.

## SUMMARY

The defendant consistently and continuously solicited business in the State of Utah. There was a continuous flow of merchandise into the state. Defendant

maintained personal property in the state and adjusted all claims and replaced defective parts, which determination was made by an agent operating in the state and in addition thereto adjusted and maintained the equipment in the homes through an agent and assisting a local serviceman. Defendant provided display rooms, showed merchandise, called on the trades interested in said products along with the local jobber for the sale of their respective merchandise and promoted sales of the defendants merchandise, selected dealers and jobbers entered into contracts with purchasers and in fact conducted every possible act in connection with doing business that any local concern could do even to the installation of a large heating and air conditioning unit in the state.

Respectfully submitted,

E. L. SCHOENHALS

*Attorney for Plaintiff  
and Appellant*