1953

Western Gas, Inc. v. Servel, Inc. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

In applying the rule of solicitation plus some additional activities, to the manufacturer-distributor relationship, the majority decisions hold that the sales of a

product through a local broker, distributor or commission merchant do not constitute doing business in the state so as to subject it to service of process. Annotations, 60 A.L.R. 1011, 1038; 101 A.L.R. 129, 142; 146 A.L.R. 945, 965.

The following cases deal with the sale of a manufacturer's products to a local distributor for purposes of resale in the state. They are as nearly similar in their facts as can be found.

Truck Parts, Inc. v. Briggs Clarifier Co., 25 F. Supp. 602 (Minn.).

Defendant corporation in this case was a manufacturer of automotive and industrial oil filters, its products being manufactured in the District of Columbia and sold in various parts of the United States by jobbers and distributors. The defendant was served while its president was temporarily in the state of Minnesota. Defendant maintained no office or place of business, nor did it have an officer or agent of the corporation reside within the state. It sold its products to distributors who in turn sold to persons in the territory served by them. The motion to quash the service of summons was granted. The opinion states:

"The defendant was not doing business in Minnesota. The distributor was. The distributor was an independent merchant buying products from the defendant, and then selling those products which he had purchased from the defendant to people in this State. There was no relationship of principal and agent existing between the

defendant and the distributor. The defendant was a vendor and the distributor was a vendee. The defendant filled orders received from the plaintiff and other distributors, at Washington, D.C., and consigned its products from there to the distributors in Minnesota. Upon delivery of the merchandise in Minnesota, the duties of the defendant in relation thereto ceased. The business of the defendant with its distributors was not local, but was connected with interstate commerce. See *Mandel Bros. Inc. v. Henry A. O'Neil, Inc., et al.*, 8 Cir., 69 F. 2d 452. *Efforts made on behalf of, and as an aid to distributors and dealers do not constitute that doing of business within the state which subjects the corporation to the local jurisdiction for the purpose of service of process upon it.* *Peebles v. Chrysler Corporation et al.*, D.C.W.D. No., 57 F. 2d 867." (Italics ours).

Taylor et al. v. H. A. Thrush and Company, 127 N.J.L. 451, 23 Atl. (2d) 274 (New Jersey). *Held*: Service quashed.

"The evidence is uncontradicted that they made no sales direct to consumers; that all sales were made to jobbers and that the contracts of sale in every case were closed at the home office in Peru, Indiana. Our conclusion on this branch of the case is therefore that the defendant, Thrush and Company, is not within the purview of any statute of this state regulating service upon a foreign corporation doing business in this state. * * * In summary the defendant, Thrush and Company, did not do business in this state. All its contracts were made in Indiana. Its sales were

made not to consumers such as the plaintiffs but to jobbers who in turn resold to the consumer and it had no agent in this state with the exception of Peterson whose duties were confined to making inspections, listening to complaints and directing the complainant to get in touch with their own contractors. Peterson testified that it was part of his duty to attend of a complaint of the Thrush appliance at the place where it was located but that he would not replace it but would instruct the owner to get in touch with the heating contractor. His general duties as testified to by another witness were to 'contact the distributors and contractors who buy their equipment from H. A. Thrush and Company as a good will representative.' "

Holzer v. Dodge Bros., 233 N.Y. 216, 135 N.E. 268 (New York).

Defendant is a Michigan corporation engaged in the business of manufacturing automobiles and selling its automobiles at its distributing point. It sells the product of its manufacture by wholesale at Detroit, Michigan and not elsewhere. The sales are either made for cash at Detroit or shipped to the distributor's place of business with an attached bill of lading. After payment the dealers take title to the cars and defendant has no interest in or control over the cars in any way. Each dealer at his own expense maintains sales rooms for the purpose of exhibiting and selling cars and accessories. The dealers are not the agents of the manufacturing corporation. *The manufacturing corporation has what it calls a district representative whose duty*

it is to look after the interest of defendant in that locality and report to it from time to time. A district representative has no power to enter into contracts on behalf of the defendant to sell cars or to collect the purchase price of cars sold. Service of summons was made upon a person named Mathewson whose duties were to go from district to district and to see to it that the district representatives were properly performing their duties and to recommend from time to time changes in such representatives or the selection of new ones. *His duties also required him to attend from time to time automobile exhibits held in the different states where defendant's cars were shown.* It was while he was attending an automobile exhibit in the City of New York that the summons was served upon him. *Held:* Service quashed. The Supreme Court of New York stated:

“Extent to which a corporation must do business in the state to justify the service of process upon its representative is not clearly defined; but, under all the authorities to which my attention has been called, it must be some substantial part of its main business. Nothing short of this will justify that service. *Tauza v. Susquehana Coal Co.*, 115 N.E. 915; *People's Tobacco Co. v. American Tobacco Co.*, 62 L. Ed. 587.”

S. B. McMaster Inc. v. Chevrolet Motor Co., 3 F. 2d 469 (South Carolina).

Chevrolet Motor Company sold automobiles to Barrow-Chevrolet, a dealer in South Carolina, the dealer to sell the cars and parts at the sellers price list, and

in a certain exclusive territory. The dealer purchases outright and retails on his own account. Dealer also agrees: (1) To develop the territory to seller's satisfaction; (2) Seller can sell to U.S. Government in dealer's territory; (3) Allotment of cars established—seller can accept or reject orders above allotment; (4) Seller can inspect dealer's showroom and inspect all records and accounts of the dealer; (5) Dealer agrees at his own expense to comply with all requirements of seller such as advertising, sales and servicing by dealer of the cars; (6) Dealer carries stock of parts; (7) Dealer agrees to order parts as seller may recommend; and (8) Dealer's associate salesman subject to seller's approval. *Held*: Service of summons upon the manager of the Barrow-Chevrolet Co. as agent for Chevrolet Motor Co. was quashed. This is not a contract of agency. Here the dealer is not a representative, acting for the seller—the dealer acts for himself. The dealer's acts are not binding upon the Chevrolet Company. Liability and responsibility belong to the dealer.

“The plaintiff lays stress upon the fact that the seller retains the control of the actions of the dealer in a number of respects, but that is not determinative of the question of agency. A person may submit his actions to the control of another without being his agent. * * * There is no reason why a manufacturer or wholesaler may not require all persons to whom he sells his goods to do all they lawfully can in making resales to promote his interests. * * * The manufacturer desires to sell his products in such manner only that his

interests may be promoted. He therefore demands as a part of the price in the making of the contract that the person to whom he sells his goods shall submit to certain restrictions. The person desiring to buy the manufacturer's goods is anxious to purchase them and in order to purchase them is willing to submit to the conditions and restrictions named."

The contract is a contract of sale and not a contract of agency. The acts of the Chevrolet Company in coming into the state to inspect the showrooms of the dealer, check over the records and accounts to see if everything is satisfactory, does not constitute doing business.

"I do not think that if a manufacturer sends a person into this state to inspect the place of business of persons to whom he is in the habit of selling property to see how their business is managed and things of that sort, that such action would constitute the manufacturer's doing business in this state."

Other decisions which deal directly with the manufacturer-distributor relationship and contain a pertinent analysis of this problem are: *Moorhead vs. Curtis Publishing Co.*, 43 F. Supp. 67; *Oyler v. J. P. Seeburg Corp.*, 29 F. Supp. 927; *Reed v. Real Detective Publishing Co.*, 63 Ariz. 294, 162 P. 2d 133; 20 C.J.S. page 166; *Douglas v. Frigidaire Sales Corp.*, 173 S.C. 66, 174 S.E. 906; *Whitaker v. MacFadden Publications, Inc.*, 105 F. 2d 44.

A good definition of "doing business" is found in

Wills v. National Mineral Co., 176 Okla. 193, 55 P. 2d 449.

“Business is largely the barter, sale or exchange of things of value, usually property. ‘Doing’ business is therefore the engaging in such pursuit. The doing of business involves not only the ownership, possession, or control of property, but such functions as dealing with others in reference to the property, the exercise of discretion, the making of business decisions, the execution of contracts. It includes the functions of marketing the product, by advertising and solicitation, and of collecting for the sold product. It may conservatively be said that wherever an important combination of these functions is being performed, business is being done.”

The important thing to note is that the courts have recognized the necessity of manufacturers supervising the distributor to the extent of attending display shows, listening to complaints and contacting the distributor as an aid to him and to see that everything is satisfactory. Western Gas Appliances, Inc. agreed to train its dealers and service men in the methods of installing and repairing appliances. The supervisory function of Mr. Reid in keeping these service men abreast of the latest factory techniques is collateral to the manufacturer’s desire to maintain good will and a trade name of good reputation.

It is also important for the manufacturer to ascertain that the distributor is maintaining agreements with aggressive and well financed dealers in the territory

and that the distributor supervises and stimulates the sales activities of the dealer in accordance with paragraph 5 (a) and 5 (c) of the agreement. For failure to do so the manufacturer is justified in "really put(ing) the heat on the distributor." (R. 45). The contacts with Western Gas Appliances, Inc. made by Abbott and Wagoner, Regional Managers, were made for supervisory reasons and were not such activities as constitute the doing of business by Servel.

THE CASES CITED BY APPELLANT ARE DISTINGUISHABLE

The authorities which appellant contends sustain its argument that respondent is doing business in the State of Utah are cited under six statements of points in appellant's brief. Respondent will hereafter discuss the cases and the points of argument in the order in which they appear in appellant's brief.

1

As authority for the first point of its argument appellant has cited *Wabash Railroad* and *Kemmerer Coal Co.* which latter decision relied upon *Bristol v. Brent*, 38 Utah 58, 110 P. 356. *Bristol v. Brent* concerns the same fact situation as the *Wabash* case in that the company maintained an office in the state for the solicitation of freight orders and staffed said office with two resident employees. It is clear that service in all three cases was made upon the person who was in charge of an office at which place the corporation advertised or

held itself out as doing business. In *Bristol v. Brent*, supra, the court stated:

“If the corporation, therefore, maintains an office in this state and places it in charge of a person whom it publicly announces to be its agent, or general agent, and if through him it solicits freight and passenger business, why is the corporation not represented by such an agent?”

Citation of authorities in which the foreign corporation solicited business through a local office or through a traveling salesman cannot sustain the service of summons upon Servel, Inc. in this case.

Cases from other jurisdictions are likewise distinguishable.

In *Dahl v. Collette*, supra, the defendant corporation manufactured butter cartons. The defendant had no office in Minnesota, but employed a traveling salesman in that state who solicited orders which were approved or rejected at the home office. The court held:

“Solicitation in the regular course of business together with acceptance and performance of the contract within the state will give ample ground for the conclusion of corporate presence.”

In *Case v. Mills Novelty Co.*, 187 Miss. 673, 193 So. 625, 126 A.L.R. 1102, an ice cream dispenser was sold by an Illinois corporation which had not qualified in Mississippi, the purchasers' residence. Because the con-

tract required it, the defendant hired a local mechanic to service the machine, which servicing activities were determined to constitute doing business. Thus in a suit to repossess the machine for failure of payments, the contract was held void because of the penalty provision in the statute relating to the doing of business by non-qualifying corporations. Frank Reid does not service appliances in the state of Utah. On the one or two occasions that he has gone into the home of a customer, he has aided the distributor's service man in an advisory capacity.

In *Cone v. New Britain Machine Co.*, 20 F. 2d 593, summons was served upon the manufacturer's sales representative in Ohio. "His sole duty is to solicit orders for machines and show the purchasers thereof how to use them * * *." The manufacturer also employed a local mechanic in Ohio who periodically adjusted and repaired the machines. Jurisdiction was thus acquired by the solicitation of orders plus servicing of the machines, both done by resident employees. The following quotation from the dissent is applicable to the argument in the case now before this court:

"* * * A reasonable satisfactory system of service of this kind must be maintained at the peril of losing his business, by any manufacturer of such machinery who has competition. The maintenance of such a system and a good reputation therefor are a part of the manufacturer's stock in trade. The system builds up and maintains good will; it is a kind of advertising; and

it becomes an advisable, if not a necessary, incident to an interstate business of manufacturing and selling such machines. Hence it results that large scale manufacturing corporations of this class, sending machinery into 30 or 40 different states, by transactions which are in each instance interstate sales, must and do give more or less of this service work in as many states. If this is 'doing business within the state,' not only are they subject to service of process in that state, but likewise to taxation and to burdensome reporting duties, as well as to serious penalties if they do not see fit to accept various local burdens which cannot be imposed on interstate commerce. So far as counsel advise us, this particular conduct within the state by a foreign corporation has not before been held to justify these liabilities and burdens."

In *Rendleman v. Niagara Sprayer Co.*, 16 F. 2d 122, jurisdiction was acquired on the basis of the activities of Jack Vernon who lived in the forum, solicited orders for the sale of spraying and dusting machines and installed and repaired them.

The weakness of appellant's position is revealed by the fact that none of the above cases deal with the manufacturer-distributor relationship which is the issue involved in this case.

2

Appellant next contends that the warranting of appliances and maintaining goods on consignment in the state constitutes doing business. The warranty which is delivered to the purchaser by the retail dealer at the

time the appliance is purchased is not a contract between Servel, Inc. and the purchaser. It is a statement of fact respecting the quality or character of goods sold, made to induce the sale and relied upon by the buyer, *Hercules Powder Co. v. Rich*, 3 F. 2d 12, 14. No court has gone so far as to hold that warranting merchandise amounts to entering into written contracts with the purchaser so as to constitute the "doing of business" by the warrantor in the purchaser's jurisdiction. Appellant has cited no such case. In *Advance Rumely Thresher Co. v. Stohl*, supra, the Thresher Co. warranted its machine and installed it at the purchaser's home in Tremonton, Utah. The court held that the Thresher Co. was not doing business in the state of Utah.

As to warehousing merchandise the decision in *Liquid Veneer Corporation v. Smuckler*, 90 F. 2d 196, bases jurisdiction on the defendant's consistent business practice of shipping merchandise in bulk and warehousing it in San Francisco for present and future use in filling its orders. From San Francisco stock shipments were sent to Los Angeles to fill given orders. The merchandise was stored until sold which took from one month to two years. In the instant case, Servel appliances with title in Servel, Inc. were stored in plaintiff's warehouse *on one occasion only*. This precaution was taken by Servel, Inc. because of the failure of Western Gas Appliances, Inc. to pay for and accept shipment of replacement heaters. Acquisition of jurisdiction over the defendant should not be upheld by this manner "of

lifting oneself by one's own bootstraps." Servel, Inc. does not now maintain nor has it ever at any time in the past ten years maintained a warehouse in the state of Utah (R. 20).

3

Any consideration of *Peck Williamson Heating and Ventilation Co. v. McKnight and Merz*, 140 Tenn. 563, 205 S.W. 419, as authority for the proposition that the installation of the all-year air-conditioner in Mr. Calder's home constitutes doing business, must include the subsequent Tennessee case of *Richmond Screw Anchor Co. v. E. W. Minter Co.*, 156 Tenn. 19, 300 S.W. at 579. It is there pointed out that the Peck Williamson Co. (penalized from bringing suit for failure to qualify) had, on at least five different occasions in 1912, 1913 and 1914 installed heating units within the state of Tennessee. This was the customary course of business of the Peck Williamson Co. In the *Richmond Screw Anchor Co.* case the rule was held not to apply to one or two isolated transactions.

Both of the above cases, like *Advance Rumely Thresher Co. v. Stohl*, supra, involve the question of whether or not a non-qualifying foreign corporation could maintain an action in the jurisdiction where it was claimed they were doing business. In the *Advance Rumely Thresher Co.* case the company sold a threshing machine to Mr. Stohl through the efforts of a Tremonton, Utah representative and a Pocatello, Idaho salesman. The contract of sale contained a warranty of

the machinery among other provisions. After the machine was delivered, two experts of the Thresher Co. came to Tremonton, assembled the machinery and started the motor to see that it would operate. This court held that the assembling activities did not constitute "doing business" within the state so as to prevent the Thresher Co. from maintaining an action for the purchase price thereof.

It is respondent's contention that the *Advance Rumely Thresher Co.* case cannot be distinguished on the ground that it involved the question of the corporation's right to maintain an action, having allegedly failed to qualify as a foreign corporation doing business in the state. The reason for respondent's contention is stated at page 43 of its brief. If the case is distinguishable, then for the same reason, *Peck Williamson Heating and Ventilation Co. v. McKnight and Merz*, supra, is similarly to be distinguished. Appellant's contention that bolting together a threshing machine is not like installing an all-year air-conditioner is absurd. Although one party uses a crescent wrench while the other party probably uses a Stilson, the factual difference between the two installation operations is not a legal distinction upon which a court could state that one corporation is doing business and the other is not. Replacement of parts under the Threshing Machine Company's warranty would presumably be done by an employee of the company. Servel, Inc. personnel will not service or repair the Calder air-conditioner.

The cases cited under point four of appellant's argument do not deal in any manner with the maintenance of service and repair clinics, or the training of local personnel to install and service a foreign manufacturer's appliances.

Williams v. Bruce's Juices, 35 F. Supp. 847, District Court, W. D. Kentucky holds that the motion to quash the return of service of summons is sustained for failure of the marshal's return to identify the person upon whom service was made. The dictum in the opinion states that the bare negotiation of a contract of distribution amounts to doing business, but no authorities are cited which hold that negotiating a contract amounts to solicitation of orders. This case is certainly opposed to the majority view stated in the A.L.R. annotations, *supra*, and the thorough, well reasoned cases of *Truck Parts, Inc. v. Briggs Clarifier*; *Taylor v. Thrush Co.*, and *Holzer v. Dodge Bros.*, which have been cited heretofore by respondent.

The Distributor's Sales Agreement entered into between respondent and appellant is not a Utah contract. It was executed in Indiana. There was considerable controversy concerning this issue in the trial court, but Mr. Fresne has not stated in any of his affidavits that the contract was signed by Mr. Knighton, the General Sales Manager of Servel, Inc., in Utah or prior to the time that Mr. Fresne signed. The court is familiar with the rule that: "A contract between parties in different states

is made at the place where the last act necessary to give it validity is performed." *Kansas City Wholesale Grocer Co. v. Weber Packing Corp.*, 93 Utah 414, 73 P. 2d 1272. The law of the place of contracting determines the validity of the provisions of the contract. *Restatement of the Law of Conflicts*, Section 332. The agreement here involved states in its concluding paragraph, number 27, that, "All questions arising hereunder shall be decided according to the laws of the state of Indiana." Furthermore, the affidavit of Robert B. Taylor states that the signature of John K. Knighton was affixed to the contract on January 23, 1951 and an "*executed copy*" of the contract was on that day returned to Mr. H. A. Fresne of Western Gas Appliances, Inc. (R. 48, 49 and exhibits attached thereto). Mr. Fresne had previously signed the contract in Salt Lake City and the final signature was affixed in Indiana by Mr. Knighton. The fact that this is an Indiana contract has dual significance. First, Servel, Inc. has not executed any contracts in Utah to engage distributors in this state. Second, inasmuch as the merits of this lawsuit will turn upon paragraph 22 of the agreement which provides that, "This agreement may be terminated with or without cause at any time before the stated term by either party * * *" it is important that the case be tried in Indiana, the forum of its governing law.

As noted above, *Frene v. Louisville Cement Co.*, supra, was cited and relied upon by this court (opinion written by Mr. Justice Wade) in the *Kemmerer Coal*

Co. case. In the *Frene* case, the continuous, systematic solicitation of orders for the sale of Brixment, the defendant's cement product, was well established. The controversy turned on what additional activities were attributable to the defendant and not just voluntary acts of Mr. Lovewell, the salesman covering the District of Columbia. Lovewell would check complaints, take Brixment specimens to government agents for testing purposes, and pointed out details in the specifications to brick masons in the course of construction of homes. Consideration of the additional activities of Mr. Lovewell to satisfy the *solicitation plus* rule was what prompted the court to say, "And very little more than mere solicitation is required to bring about this result." The *Frene* case is very thoroughly documented with authorities and states the majority view. Respondent believes this decision supports its contention that it is not doing business in the state of Utah, as does the *Kemmerer Coal Co.* case.

5

In the trial of the instant case the defendant filed a Memorandum of Authorities which is found at page 58 of the record. The manufacturer-distributor cases were cited and stressed by respondent in the argument before the trial court. Appellant has not attempted to distinguish these cases nor has it cited authority which holds that where merchandise is sold through a local distributor the manufacturer thereof is doing business. Under point five of its argument appellant has cited the fol-

lowing cases as authority for: "Solicitation of business in the State of Utah."

In *Loken v. Diamond T Motor Car Company*, 216 Minn. 223, 12 N.W. 2d 345, service of summons was sustained. There were 12 or 13 dealers in the state who solicited orders for Diamond T Trucks. Summons was served on a Mr. Dunn who secured and appointed the dealers, and also accompanied them to aid in demonstrating the trucks to a customer. The court does not state in its opinion that solicitation of orders is necessary. There was no independent distributor handling the wholesale distribution of trucks, but instead Mr. Dunn, the corporate agent, performed this function.

Meade Fibre Company v. Varn, 3 F. 2d 520, is a case in which the purchase of quantities of wood pulp and piling it at a railroad siding in South Carolina, and recording bills of sale in its name amounted to doing business by a foreign corporation.

Carroll Electric Co. v. Freed Eisemann Radio Corp., 50 F. 2d 993 holds that the manufacturer-distributor contract creates a limited agency in the distributor. "The distributor was not an independent merchant dealing with the manufacturer upon its own initiative, but conducted its (the manufacturer's) business in the District of Columbia. * * *" The opinion cites *Eastman Kodak Co. v. Southern Photo Materials Co.*, 273 U.S. 359, 47 S. Ct. 400, 71 L. ed. 684, but that decision is based on a statutory interpretation of what the term "tran-

sacts business" means, as it is used in the venue provisions of the Clayton Anti-Trust Act. The *Eastman Kodak* decision states:

"Manifestly the defendant was not present in the Georgia district through officers or agents engaged in carrying on business of such character that it was 'found' in that district and was amenable to the local jurisdiction for the service of process."

Appellant dismissed its service of process upon Z.C.M.I. because it realized that no agency relationship existed. The *Carroll Electric* case is opposed to *S. B. McMaster Inc. v. Chevrolet Motor Co.*, supra, which expresses a much sounder view of the law of agency.

In *State ex rel Taylor Laundry Company v. Second Judicial District Court*, 102 Mont. 274, 57 P. 2d 772, the defendant corporation "solicited business from all the steam laundries in the State of Montana and sold thousands of dollars worth of machinery and replacement parts to maintain a dozen laundries in the state." This solicitation of business, plus the examination, adjustment and repair of washing machines, made the corporation amenable to process in the state of Montana.

6

International Shoe Co. v. State, 22 Wash. 2d 146, 154 P. 2d 801, is the same case in the state court as *International Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 90 L. ed. 95, 66 S. Ct. 154. Jurisdiction was based on the solicitation of orders by 11 or 13 resident agents. The

agents were under the direct supervision and control of sales managers at the home office in St. Louis, Missouri. It is a typical case of solicitation of orders plus additional activities by resident salesmen.

* * * * *

There is in the exhibit envelope, a copy of a stipulation signed by appellant's counsel which extended the time until August 31st for Servel, Inc. to plead in the case. Although appellant has apparently abandoned its contention on appeal, the stipulation was introduced to show that the respondent had waived its objection to the jurisdiction of the court and had made a voluntary appearance. Rule 12 (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states in this regard:

“No defense or objection is waived by being joined with one or more other defenses or objections in a responsive pleading or motion or by further pleading after the denial of such motion or objection.”

In *Orange Theatre Corp. v. Rayherstz Amusement Corp.*, 139 F. 2d 871, the claim was made that the filing of a stipulation for the extension of time in which to answer or plead amounted to a voluntary appearance, in the action. The Third Circuit Court of Appeals held in this regard:

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